celebrating the History of African-

Awmericans Ln the capay valley

Yhany African Amecican _Lamilies 60-»“0-‘ on a Seavenly
Summit 1.200 fest Above Cuinda, Beginning in the 1890s.

Black HISTORY DAY (N CAPAY VALLEY's Guinda
celebrates its unique Black/African Awerican History—as
well as that of the national Black History Mownth in
February-—-ow the second Saturday each February at
Guinda grange Hall on Forvest Avenue behind the Guinda
Corner Store. The bratnchild of Local wmusician Clarence
vaw Hook (seew on stage at Left) and the Late Local Black
Historian/Activist Bill Petty, it draws people from all over
the country. Since the Gold Rush and statehood—since
california was a “free state”—there are enclaves throughout
the state with sizable early pioneers of African descent. One
such area is the Guinda area L the capay valley. Bill
Petty explained that the quinda area has a rich history of
being well-tntegrated from the beginning of early
settlements. Some of the blacks settling i the area were
freed slaves, while others had come as slaves and were freed
while here. Come Learn about this unique history, Listen to
speeches and multioultural wusic and enjoy the booths
and presentations—and the great food! PotLuck-—-while it is
not necessary, You are encouraged to bring a side dish or
dessert to share; BBR is catered.

Check out greatercapayvalley.org for more
unformation on our wnwigue
Adfrican-Awmerican history
im the greater Capay valley.
Herein are excerpts from the

_Journals writtew for The
Greater Capay valley
Historical Society by Betsy

Mowroe

—with support from The
Friends of the Yolo County
Archives

Yours at cost for $5
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Celebrating the History of African

Americans in the Capay Valley with
Multi-Cultural and BLACK HISTORY DAY

Guinda celebrates its unique Black/African-American History--as well as that
of the national Black History Month in February--on the second Saturday
each February at historic Guinda Grange Hall. The brainchild of local
musician Clarence Van Hook and local Black Historian, the late Bill Petty, it
draws people from all over the country. Before statehood and after—since
California was a free state—there are sizable enclaves throughout this area
with early pioneers of African descent. One such area is Hungry Hollow and
the Dunnigan Hills, where the “largest Black landowner in Yolo County at the
turn of the last century” settled and prospered: Basil Campbell would be a
magnet for many Black pioneers to follow. Many found their way to the
Guinda area in the Capay Valley. Bill Petty explains that the Guinda area has
a rich history of being well integrated from the beginning of early settlements.
Many of the blacks settling in the Yolo County had been slaves, while others
were freed after settling in the area. Come learn about this unique history,
listen to the music led by musician Clarence Van Hook, and enjoy the booths
and presentation--and the great food! Pot Luck--10AM to 3PM.

The first African-American settler to homestead in the Guinda area was
Green Berry Logan, [see his and many other photos in our journals] moving
his family from the Dunnigan area in the 1890s. Green Berry is buried in the
Logan Cemetery up on the “summit,” a heavenly 1,200 feet above Guinda,
which was at one time home to about 100 settlers. Once the Logan Private
Cemetery, it is now located on property left to the Hayes family, who keep its
access open for descendants to visit.

As covered in the 18 journals written by Elizabeth Monroe for The Greater
Capay Valley Historical Society, the settlers built their own school [a rare
photo of which is seen in the journals and in the 440-page book]|, but
eventually joined the other local students in the Guinda School after 1912.
Arriving after Mr. Logan was a barber/musician, Charles Simpson, who
moved to the summit with his wife and daughter. There followed other Black
families, among them were the Hemphills, Longrus and Hacketts—the latter
related to local historian Bill Petty’s family by marriage. And just like so
many other families in the valley, there were several marriages between clans:
examples like Harriet Emily (Logan) Simpson [later Hickerson]: “Hattie” was



Green Berry’s sister-in-law and married Charles Simpson and started a
family. After Simpson’s death in 1912, Hattie married Maryland Hickerson.

Of the many African-American families homesteaded on a Heavenly Summit
1,200 feet above Guinda, beginning in the 1890s, the second African-
American homesteader to settle in the area, Charles Henry Simpson is buried
in the Logan Cemetery. As covered in volume 1 of the Journals, he is
responsible for the “Simpson Grade,” still kept graded and useable today by
the Hayes family. Many delightful pictures and much of the history is
courtesy of Jeannette Molson, descendant of the Logan family. According to
Jeannette: her grandfather, Alvin Alfred Logan, Sr., was born to Green Berry
and his first wife, Lavinia Coffey, along with Green Berry, Jr--known as
“Green.” Only one of the nine children born to Green Berry’s second wife,
Mary Ann Dix, a part-Wintun Indian, married and had a family. Jeannette
also enlightened me about other families down in the valley: “The Browns
and Watkins families had homes in Brooks and right outside of Guinda down
the road from where my grandparents lived. Carmen McClellan had a
business in Guinda, and my cousin, Charles Simpson, grandson of Charles
Henry Simpson,” as featured in the 6th journal for The Greater Capay Valley
Historical Society, the unique community of African-Americans in our
Guinda began in the 1890s. See all Journals posted on the website
greatercapayvalley.org or bound into the hard-cover book “The History and
Stories of the Capay Valley” by Elizabeth Monroe.

Text is from:

BLACK HISTORY DAY

QUARTERLY NEWSLETTER FOR THE GREATER CAPAY VALLEY
HISTORICAL SOCIETY

By Elizabeth “Betsy” Monroe

From The Greater Capay Valley Historical Society

Check out our website: greatercapayvalley.org

And 3 sites on FaceBook under:

The Greater Capay Valley Historical Society

The History and Stories of Capay Valley

Annual Black History Multi Cultural Heritage Celebration




HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT AFRICAN-AMERICAN
ENCLAVE IN THE VALLEY

Before statehood and even after, since
California was a free state, there are
enclaves throughout with sizable early
pioneers of African Descent. One such
area is the Guinda area in the Capay
Valley. Local Black Historian Bill Petty
explains that the Guinda area has a rich
history of being well integrated from the
beginning of early settlements. Many of
the blacks settling in the arvea were never
slaves, while others were freed after
settling in the area. One of the most
common names was Logan, with many
descendants still in the area today.
Another valley pioneer of interest Basil
Campbell. Given his freedom by the
Stephens family, he went on to buy
available sections of land that eventually
led to his being the largest black
landowner in the avea of the Dunnigan
Hills between Hungry Hollow and
Zamora. And in the Capay Valley, the
summit or the hill had a mixture of races,
all attending the local school and some of
them joining in marriage. Some
interviewees considered poverty the early
commonality. Early Summit family

pinivs Sehulbd, Logel, Siayes SWsirn,

Longrus, Benham, and Zaoker; some
White, some Black. The 1896 census;
showed close to 25 school-aged children
in the area, a figure to remained constant
into the 1900s. August Simpson became a
Guinda barber, becoming the first
Swummit resident to work down in a

valley business.

Summit
School

As the
the summit
grew, so did
their concern
for the
education of
their children.
Albertine
DuBois had
b e e =n
providing
informal
schooling in
the early 1890s. The Pace family had a
sheep ranch in the East Side hills and the
neighbors met at his sheep camp by a big
spring, where students had been taught
by Mrs. DuBois, and discussed a proper|

Clarence Van Hook

hopes to eventually use
his part of the old Rancho
Canada de Capay land
grant as a multi-cultural
retreat, celebrating the
diversity in the valley,
especially the unique
Black American Enclave
represented by the Guinda
area. The old Ribbs ranch
cuts across Highway 16 to
Cuache Creek and claims
one of the oldest barns in

Below, Summit School -
postcard photo courtesy of
Jeannette Molson, inherited
Jfrom her mother, Addie
Mae (Logan) Molson, who
grew up on the Summit.

The Summit School: 1395 to
1912, is no longer standing.

Grouter Capay Valley Historical Society, PO Box 442, Esparto, CA 95627
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school. After the next census
showed enough potential
students, the supervisors
approved their petition for a
school district, called “Summait.”
On an acre donated by non-
resident Vanaleen Scofield, and
with lumber bought with county
Sunds, free local labor created the
Summit School “on a slope up
Srom a small flat...and in jJuly
1895 Albertine DuBois came with
her two little girls Pearl and
Birdie to teach a class of 11, the
usual attendance. Along with
others, her husband Joe and his
brother Bill from Guinda worked
on the frame bhalding with its

Proper Road and School ...

A community up on a hill
needs a reliable road. A local
summit family, Charles and
Harriet “Hattie” Simpson would
give them one.

Green Berry Logan’s sister-
in-lazw Harriett lived in Oakland.
Later Harriett (Hattie) Emily
Logan met and married the
barber Charles Simpson. They
moved to a homestead of 160
acres, filed in 1890, on the
summit, near Green Berry
Logan’s homestead. By 1896
Charles was successful with fruit
and nut trees due to a good well
dug in 1893. Hattie was a skilled

dressmaker, sewing for local

Jull length porch along the Guinda families....Seeing the
elevated east side.™ importance of contact with
SIMPSON GRADE Guinda, he laid out a road from

the ford at the end of Forest Avenue to switch-back to the 1,200 foot level...at the west
side of King Flat. Worked on for several years, it proved its value in the summer of
1894 when it acted as a barrier to a forest fire and was always referred to as the |
‘Simpson Grade’. Today, Doug Hayes, descendent of another early settler, George |
Hayes, keeps that road open and passable for all the families to have access to the |
summit, the Logan Cemetery, the Summit School site, and the various homesteads
and properties--at his own expense. He was honored recently at the 9th annual Black
History Celebration in Guinda for this generosity.

Much more will be forthcoming on other early families, such as the Hayes
family, in future volumes. Many of these families still live in the area and join the
tribe descendants and “new comers” (those arriving in the last 50-100 years!) in
keeping the valley alive and vibrant.

Not all History is pretty. While it is rightfully considered inappropriate today,
there was an area on a summit above the town of Guinda that was once commonly
referred to as “Nigger Heaven”—even appearing on county maps as such.

There are some today who claim it was dubbed so by the pioneers who settled
there, many of them of African Descent, while still others, direct descendants
among them, claim this is a bit of “revisionist history”--perhaps to help focus on
just celebrating the history of the racially integrated and cooperative nature of the
area, while softening the distastefulness of this blemish. The geological survey
maps until the 1970s still carried this place name. At that time, a movement (headed

UUINDA QUADRANOLE

CALIFORA
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up by historian Bill Petty) to
have it expunged succeeded
in removing it from maps.
Since that time it has
commonly been either
referred to as The Hill, The
Heaven or The Summit, but
what is most significant is
the rich black heritage of
this area--and the fact that
the summit and school
were integrated, as were
the other schools
throughout the Greater
Capay Valley area.

Guinda now celebrates its
unique Black History, as well
as that of the nation, the
second Saturday each
February.

Greater Capay Valley Historical Society, PO Box 442, Esparto, CA 95627
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photo of Bill Petty presenting the

Black History of the Guinda area at a Black History Day

’

County Survey Map below

Celebration.
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= William Petty, ==

Capay Valley descendant,
historian and noted Civil
Rights Advocate!
When I returned to the Capay
i Valley and heard there was
now an annual Black History

Day Celebration in Guinda, I

hoped this would be a way to find the

history of this unique area I grew up
with but really knew nothing about. I
contacted the founders, Clarence Van Hook and William Petty, and
volunteered to come shoot a video of the next event in exchange for the
history and stories they might provide for me—what a brilliant move on my
part! Mr. Van Hook is a recent arrival to the area—a Texan and Blues
musician—who bought property near Guinda and became fast friends with
the Hayes family elder, Al. Learning of the unique history of the area and its
historic Black community, Clarence set out to celebrate it. With local
historian Bill Petty, he launched an annual celebration—alternately also

referred to as Multi-cultural Day. See volumes 1 & 6 and videos on our website:

greatercapayvalley.org

I never know where this kind of research will lead! Having met Myr. Petty, 1
made an appointment to come interview him and I not only got the history
of our Summit area, but found he is a fascinating—and important—
personality in his own right. I made several trips to his home, resulting in
two videos—one focused on our own Capay Valley history, and another on
his personal importance to our own Civil Rights movement in northern
California—and the nation! I grew up here knowing that while we had some
racial strife in the 1960s, it was nothing like that of the rest of the nation—
or even as restrictive as neighboring towns, even Woodland. My mother
grew up in Woodland and made a point of this fact—but Mr. Petty helped

me see it even more clearly, from the point of view of a *Black man.

400

Photo, above: William Petty
sits between Darrel and
George Hayes, here in 2014
celebrating turning 90—all
descendants of the area’s
pioneers. While the Hayes
cousins were direct
descendants of 1890 pioneers,
Bill Petty’s family arrived in
the 1940s from the South,
having family who married

into pioneers on the Summit.

*Mr. Petty uses the term Black
more often than African-
American, and even uses the
term Colored—I assume due
to his 90 years hearing those
terms more often. His father
was a Civil Rights advocate in
the South, a fact that put his
family in harms way, but not
until their house was torched
did he choose to move his
family to California, following
relatives to our area. William
Petty is of mixed race, so they
were in even more danger in
the South. But, as you will see,
even here, while in less danger,

4 they faced discrimination...
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The first time I met William Petty, after hearing my last name and explanation of how I was
related to the Monroes of Yolo county, he fixed me with that eagle eye of his and said, ‘I once sued your
uncle for discrimination.” While taken aback for an instant, I quickly replied with a laugh, “Well,
knowing my uncle, he probably deserved it! He and my dad did not share the same views on race
relations—you would have loved my mother and father, Tom and Jean!” And from this start, Mr. Petty
and I became fast friends and he opened his heart and trove of historic knowledge to me.

When I first started researching my own family roots, my dad warned me that I would find some
things I would not be too proud of, but to remember never to be ashamed of who I was and to always
remember to just be sure the same things did not happen on my watch! Well, he was right. When I
learned that my Scots ancestors were historically planters in Virginia, it dawned on me that while it was
never discussed in our family, we came from slave-owners. Many years later, thanks to ancestry.com, I
was able to find early census documents to verify my supposition: slaves were listed along with the
family members and white and Chinese servants. And through Mr. Petty, I learned about another
mulatto of historical importance to our own area: Basil Campbell, who would become the largest Black
landowner in Yolo County. While he came to California with the Stephens family, I wondered about his
surname enough to do some digging and found that he was born as a slave to a mother owned by my
own ancestor, JD Campbell, a neighbor of the Stephens family in Cooper County, Missouri...knowing
enough about our slave history in this country to assume what only a DNA test would verify, just
knowing about Basil’s ties to my own roots gives me a whole new appreciation for our tangled history. In
my own family, obviously, there were some complex views on race relations, but my own parents were
very clear about who we were and how we would conduct ourselves: We are who we are and need only to

look at ourselves in the mirror and not be ashamed of who we see
looking back. Thanks, Mom and Dad!

Bill’s family came to Guinda,
California in 1942, to settle in the
Capay Valley near relatives who came
to this area in the 1870s. Bill had run

Now, back to William Petty! There is not room in this

journal to do him justice, so I have posted a much larger

article on the website at greatercapayvalley.org along with
the videos, but herein are some locally interesting notes.

The first thing Bill and I discussed was the history of the
unique and historic community of African-Americans in the
Guinda area beginning in the 1890s [see journals 1 & 6]. He pointed
out he was the one who fought to have the term Nigger Heaven
dropped from the county maps in the 1970s. I said, “But as a
historian, doesn’t it bother you that you have expunged history?”’
He admitted that after the fact he was kind of sorry—so he
always makes a point of teaching about that historic place-name
at the Black History Day Celebration, making sure the old survey
maps are displayed on the wall of the Guinda Grange Hall, where

the event is held, to illustrate his point.

401

from a lynch mob in North Carolina
for talking back to a White man—it
was time to find a better life. But while
Claud and Mae Petty settled on a piece
of farm land near Guinda, there were
no jobs, so Bill, who had served in the
Army and married his school
sweetheart Marie, moved with her to
Woodland. There they found few jobs
for Black men & only domestic jobs for
Black women—and no one willing to
sell them a home. So Bill began a long
history of fighting for the rights of
minorities, including women, in Yolo
and Sacramento counties.

See more on page 21.



CAPAY VALLEY

Continved from page 17: Civil Rights Activist, Bill Petty—one of our own! Among his
many accomplishments and awards, one he is most proud of was accomplished in 1994:
As past Master of the black Masonic Monument 74, he “and Doug Young, past Master of the
white Masonic Lodge of Woodland, came together to lay the cornerstone for the Yolo County
Central Library on Buckeye Street. This was the first time the white and black Masons had ever
held a joint function. Now, after over one hundred years of being separate, we are one body and
recognize each other equally,” Bill proudly explained. Bill served as chairman of the Board of
Directors of the Most Worshipful Prime Hall Grand Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons of the
State of California. Awards fill the walls of his home in Hillcrest west of Woodland—a home he
built only after his light-skinned wife “passed” for white to buy the lot, as no one would sell
real estate to a Black man in Woodland—as late as the 1960s! “The told me there were
‘restrictive covenants against selling to coloreds’.” With the lot legally in his wife’s name, the
community was not too thrilled when he showed up to lay the foundation to the home he has
had ever since. Among his many awards and accomplishments are: Equal Employment
Opportunity official at McClellan AFB, for which he has the Air Force Distinguished EEO
Award of the Year; the Aguila Unity Award (Spirit of the Eagle) the highest honor given by the
Latino Community Council to a non-Mexican for his part in “responsible empowerment of the
community’’; Bill served as the first African-American on the Yolo County Grand Jury in the
1950s—and brought lawsuits against county officials for discrimination. Upon retiring from
McClellan AFB, Bill continued his activism: as chief volunteer for the Yolo County Coalition Against
Hunger and in 1973 he was appointed Yolo County Affirmative Action Committee to create the county’s
first Affirmative Action Plan. —————————— .

The History and Stories of the Capay Valley

See more on the families in this and prior journals at 4 ampllation of 14 Josenals frim Joniary 301 ) Desember 3014

greatercapayvalley.org —including Bill Petty and so much more!

I am currently pre-selling three books that are near completion:

The History and Stories of the Capay Valley will be out in
hardcover in January 2015, retailing for §200 but on pre-order sale now /!
for $175

The Birds of Capay Valley will be out in February 2015, a
compilation of the bird articles I published for the last 4 years in the
journal; §25

Monroe for Sheriff, 60 Consecutive Years Serving Yolo County,
1911-1971 will be out in the summer of 2015, a compilation of James
Monroe’s published memoir of 28 years as sheriff and his son Forrest
Duncan Monroe's sherifl’ department scrapbooks of the next 32 years
—as well as their historical backgrounds and the people they knew in
Yolo County; $35

Contact me at amnm@wmm to order. iniets Newy Marwre
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We have a unique and extensive history of African-

American settlers in the Capay Valley area,

especially in the valley town of Guinda. Celebrating this
history, each second Saturday of February, the valley hosts Black
History Day at the Guinda Grange Hall at 11AM. February 11th this
year will celebrate not only the local settlers, but also the African-
American experience, overall.

Most of you may know that since 1976 February is Black History
Month, an observance of the history of the African diaspora in a
number of countries outside of Africa. Observed annually in the US
and Canada in February, it is also observed in the UK, but in October. In the
US, Black History Month is also referred to as African-American History
Month--and while it is not without controversy, mostly about whether a
country ought to observe a month devoted to one race, it is an opportunity to
Jocus on a history that weaves itself throughout our entire American
experience, so we “historians” and teachers welcome the focus.

According to Wikipedia, “Black History Month was begun as Negro
History Week by historian Carter G. Woodson in 1926. His goal was to
educate the American people about African-American History, focusing
on African-Americans’' cultural backgrounds and reputable
achievements.” In that same vein, I want to “educate” the readers in the
same way--but focus on our own rich local history.

As seen in
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William Petty, above, and
Clarence Van Hook, below,
are instrumental in keeping
the Black History alive in
the Capay Valley.

Above, Clarence Van Hook
plays at a celebration of
his good friend Al Hayes at
Al’s 90th Birthday, May,
2010, seen below with
Sfamily and cake.
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YDany African American _Lamilies Somestead on a Seavenly
Summit 1,200 feet Above Guinda, Jeginning in the 1890s.

= The first African-American settler to homestead in the Guinda area was
~ Green Berry Logan, [seen in photo to left] moving his family from the
Dunnigan area in the 1890s. Green Berry is buried in the Logan Cemetery
up on the “summit,” a heavenly 1,200 feet above Guinda, which was at one
time home to about 100 settlers. Once the Logan Private Cemetery, it is
now located on property left to the Hayes family, who keep its access open
for descendants to visit.

As covered in prior issues, the settlers built their own school [seen at
lower left], but eventually joined the other local students in the Guinda
School after 1912. Following after Mr. Logan was a barber/musician,
Charles Simpson, who moved to the summit with his wife and daughter.
% There followed other Black families, among them were the Hemphills,

Y Longrus and Hacketts, related to local historian Bill Petty’s family by
marriage. And just like so many other families in the valley, there were
several marriages between clans, as seen to the left with Harriet Emily
(Logan) Simpson [later Hickerson]: “Hattie” was Green Berry’s niece, she
and married Charles Simpson and started a family. [After Simpson’s death in
1912, Hattie married Maryland Hickerson.]

The second African-American homesteader to settle
in the area was Charles Henry Simpson, seen at left, and

&

| buried in the Logan Cemetery. As covered in volume 1 of

 this journal, he is responsible for the “Simpson Grade,”

: } still kept graded and useable today by the Hayes family.

ﬁ These delightful pictures and much of the history is

X courtesy of Jeannette Molson, descendant of the Logan

=3"| family. Her grandfather, Alvin Alfred Logan, Sr., was

born to Green Berry and his first wife, Lavinia Coffey,

.. along with Green Berry, Jr—-known as “Green.” Only one

! of the nine children born to Green Berry’s second wife,

Mary Ann Dix, a part-Wintun Indian, married and had a
family.

Jeannette also enlightened me about other families

down in the valley: “The Browns and Watkins families

had homes in Brooks and right outside of Guinda down

the road from where my grandparents lived. Carmen

Creater Capay Valley Historical Society, PO Box 442, Esparto, CA 95627
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African-American History of the Greater Capay Valley, continued...

McClellan had a business in Guinda, and my cousin, Charles
Simpson, grandson of Charles Henry Simpson, had a beautiful home
right outside of Guinda. It was called, ‘La Hacienda de Guinda’. The
Watkins and brown families lived in the area for many years--just
ask the local folks about Walter Brown and Dave Watkins.”

Among other topics, Jeannette and I discussed the appropriate way to
refer to People or Families of African Descent--her personal favorite. I have
moved between Jeannette’s preferred term and Black and African-
American, as it seemed appropriate to the writing--partly because many
were not of pure African descent (Green Berry Logan being a perfect
example, whose father was “white”) and partly because it is always
troubling to to me to refer to a person by a skin color. If I have learned
nothing else in my last year of genealogy and history research, nothing is
simple and pure when it comes to our blood lines! One of my great
discoveries has been my family’s possible relationship to Basil Campbell,
“largest Black landowner in Yolo County” at one time. Most do not know his
lineage, but might know he came to California as a slave to the John D.
Stephens family. But as his last name implies, his roots lead back to a
family named Campbell in Coopers County, Missouri--my family! Who his
white father was I couldn’t say for sure, but he was born to a mother owned
by James D. Campbell, neighbor to one of the other two original white
settlers of Coopers County, the Stephens family--to whom he was sold as a
young age. More on Basil later, but my point is, when you begin the search
you never know what you will find--and labeling a person by a single “color”

or race is simply not simple. Nor accurate!

PAGE] 7 |
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Basil “Bauz” Campliell

Speaking of nothing being simple:
some in the Stephens family claim
this commonly accepted picture of
Basil, above, is actually his brother;
and no one but I seems to feel the man
standing in the middle of the Stephens
harvest picture, below, in hat and vest
is a visiting family friend, Basil
Campbell--Any ideas out there??

e

Basil Campbell, landowner...coming to California with
John D. Stephens in 1854, Basil and JD had an agreement that he
would “work his way to freedom’ within ten years. By 1861 he
renegotiated and bought his freedom at $700 for his remaining 3
years. During his 7 years, JD had

been helping Baaz invest his money |

and he was worth about $10,000.

In 1884, his total wealth was estimated
at $100,000...2000 acres of tilled land
and 280 acres of untilled land, valued at
$51000, $3100 in livestock as well as

66 acres of hay, 12 horses, 3 mules,

1100 sheep, 80 hogs; acres of wheat and

barley and numerous commodities.

CONTINUED ON PAGE 17
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BASIL CAMPBELL CONTINUED:

At a time when almost all Afro-Americans of economic prominence made their
gans through mining, mining-related business or business enterprises, Campbell
made his advancement through agriculture(3)."
Cuted from:
1-San Francisco Examaner, 11-29-1884
2-US Census for 1880, Products of Agriculture in Yolo county
3-Delilah L. Beasley, The Negro Trail Blazers of Califorma (LA, CA.,
1919), 70-71

In 1865 Baaz was elected as delegate to the State Convention
of Colored People and became vice-president; and in 1873 he was
sent as state delegate to the National Colored Convention in
Washington, DC.

By the time of his death he had wealth and respect among people of all

colors in Yolo County.

I am grateful to William Petty and Jeannette L. Molson for much
of this material and pictures. Jeannette’s mother, Addie Mae
Logan Molson was a dear friend of my father’s and was a delight
to know, a woman of great humor, common sense, talents and
interests. She sang and played big band piano to make ends meet
in college at UC Berkeley. Raised in Capay Valley, she married
James T. Molson, who encouraged her to go back to college for her
credential at Sac State College. She became the first African
American teacher in the North Sacramento School District.

And among the many newspaper clippings I got from Mr.
Petty, I would love to mention Benjamin Asa Longrus, who lived
in Hannibal, MO, while Samuel Clemens was forming his ideas
about slavery and race relations, and who came to California at
about 20, settling first in the Winters area, his family having
belonged at one time to Briggs and Ely families in that area--and

once to Daily Democrat editor Ed E. Leake’s family. It was an

7

atrick Scribner
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

507 First Street, Suite B (530
Woodland, California 95695 Fax (530)
email: pscpa@pacbell.net

Rp——

article in that paper I used to get much
information on Basil Campbell. And then there is
Capay Valley midwife Mary Frances Gaither--but
I will do her justice in 2012 when I write about
Ol’ Doc Craig of Capay, under whom she

practiced.
‘

And speaking of local enterprisers: the
Hacketts of Guinda were a family I knew fairly
well, growing up, but I had never met one of the
eldest daughters of Roy Hackett. Her stage name
was Shirley Haven and she worked with Eartha
Kit; traveled with the Charles Brown band for
years; was in the first all-black color movie, “No
Time For Romance”; recorded a couple tunes
with the Four Jacks; and was part of the first all-
black USO tour--and while touring in Korea she
adopted Anthony Stanton, giving him her married
name, Holiday. she brought him back to Capay
Valley to grow up with Roy and Bamma Hackett’s
kids. The Hacketts had been in the valley since the
1940s and William Petty’s sister Iris met and
married Roy, Jr., thus blending the Petty and
Hauckett families. My hat is off to the enterprising
spirit of my Capay Valley “neighbors”--like the
lovely Shirley Haven who, through her son
Anthony, gave me permission to use the great ad
photo of her, above!

Greater Capay Valley Historical Society, PO Box 442, Esparto, CA 95627
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Basil Campbell came to Yolo
County in the 1850s with his

“owner,” John Dickson Stephens, and John’s
brother George Dickson Stephens, and
became one of the largest landowners in
this county before 1900. He would settle near
the Stephens’ 8000 acres, amassing thousands
of his own acres, mostly in the Hungry Hollow
flats and Dunnigan Hills. In an article in the Daily
Democrat in 1971, neighbor Bill Rominger
recalls knowing Basil and takes the article’s
authors Phillip Freshwater and local John
Vannucci on a tour of “what used to be.” The
photographs are by Vannucci.

QUR GUIDE — William F, Rominger led us not only along the roads of
Hunary Holiow but aiso fo homes now extant only in memery.

CAMPBELL — Thero boside thal aimond Iree is whece the fine two story
white home owned by Basil Campbell, Yolo county's firs! Negre sattler,
stood. P —

-t
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MOMENTO — The old machine shed on one of the first homes of the late
Basil Campbell is all that is left fo mark the home site.

Some of Basil’s holdings would become what is today the Cache
Creek Nature Preserve. Some claim that he was the first African
American to settle in Yolo County, but at the very least he was
one of the earliest and after his success, many followed. And
while he arrived as a slave to California, a “free state,” the
Fugitive Slave Law meant that a slave was still “owned” and must
be returned to his owner if he “escaped,” until given his
freedom. As he told it in countless interviews, John Stephens
treated him “more like a brother and helped him invest” some of
his wages until he could buy his own freedom in 1861. Some
historians claim when he could afford it, he also bought freedom
for his “slave wife” on the Stephens farm in MO, though he had
remarried in CA. In 1865 he began buying land and livestock and
by 1884 he was worth $100,000—at a time when that was a
fortune. Basil died in 1905 and is buried in Woodland Cemetery.
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We followed M Rofinger’s pickup truck and
“paused on the road when he moti for us to
stop. We looked out where he pointed. No house
now exists; the home burned down many years

0.

ag"'I'he old man had a fine two story white house
right there beside that almond free” Mr.
Rominger told us. “'Oh, he was a fine old gen-
tleman. Just the finest kind of a man,

1 bought the north 480 and John Hermle the
south 480.""

We stood for a few minutes, mentally erecting
Basil Campbell’s two story white house in the
green swale by the aimond tree, and then our
host straightened up.

“¥ou asked me where the Campbell hills are.
Do you want to drive out into them?"'

We got back into our car and followed the old
pickup truck again, this time turning off road 14
onto a private road and waiting while Mr.
Rominger opened the gate. It was & testament to
his health and vigor (Mr. Rominger is mare
than 80) that it did not immediately occur tous
(there were two young amateur photographers
with me) that he might need help (and then
when one of them did pop out to offer assistance,
he was waved off. Mr. Rominger deesn't need
any help!)

"“We just run sheep on this land now,’" he said,
when we stopped again at the fop of the hills.
“The hills are too steep to plant.”

“Mr. Campbell didn’t farm this land, did he?"
1 asked.

“No,” he said. “He leased it all out.”

We stood for a few minutes while the two
young men took pictures of the sheep who came
running out to the feed troughs — surely that
was why we were there, to feed them?

We looked put oyer the hills, half golden with
dried grains and half chocolate brown where the
disc had run through the earth. These inner
hills, not seen from the public roads, have their
own strange beauty, steeply rounded and quite
symmelrically arranged.

“There must be many animals in here,” 1
supggested. ‘How about fox?"

“Lots of fox,”" Mr. Rominger nodded. “'Once
in a while a coyote. And skunks! Too many
skunks! They're good in one way, though, All
over these hills you'll see little holes, not deep
enough for burrows, just little pockets in the
soil. That’s where the skunk have pawed up

here any move."

1 asked about Birds and he told me, “Tarks

and doves have always been here. We have
more pheasants now than we used to have.”

The daylight was going fast now and our guide
wanted to show us the other Campbell historical
places before it was gone,

“Want to see where his (Camphell's)
daughter and son-in-law lived?”! he asked before
the old pickup tock off again.

We went back to road 14, watched the careful
closing of the gate again, and followed as the
pickup turned south on road 8. Now the whole
character of the land changed; instead of being
in the hills we were on a hroad level plain, When
the pickup stopped, and Mr. Rominger pointed
to the spol where the former Lenora Campbell
and ber husband, Henry Hellack Williames, had
lived when their seven children were born, there
was nothing to mark the site;

I could imagine Lenora, the daughter of the
famous Basil, getting info the family's fancy
Pope-Hartford car, with its three foot high
wheels. She had on, in my mental picture, a
Flowing white chiffon dress and was wearing her
pretty hat for the trip in to Woodland. The year
is probably 1811, and Ward Williams, who, in
real life at the present time, lives in West
Sacramento, is, in this dream sequence, an
eager leen-age driver,

The reverie was interrupted by our guide, who
wanted to show us still another home site, this
time the one of Elijah Jennings, Basil Camp-
bell's half brother, who took Campbell's old
place when the two story house was built. This
home site was reached by continuing out road 88
to road 16 and turning west. This time there
were fig trees ('‘the figs were always good
here”) and a toppled over machine shed to
mark the place where the home bad been.

Y1 lived here six years myself,” Mr.
Rominger said. *‘My dad rented this place from
Mr. Campbell, I was 18 here, I remember. Used
to be an orchard here and there on thal flat
place is where the old mule barn was.

“This is where Mr. Campbell used to visit us,
He'd come by in his buckboard and we'd run out
to meet him. He’d sweep his hat off and bow so
deep he'd almost reach the ground. ‘I was just
poing by and I thought I'd just see how you are,'
he'd say. Oh, he was sucha fine man!

“Big man, he was, too. Better than 200

Basil Campbell remembered
by neighbor William Rominger

in the Hungry Hollow-Dunnigan
Hills, con’t.

pounds, No, T don't know thai he wasz any
smarter than the rest of us, He was just a very
saving man. Like all us farmers he was careful
with his money.” ¥ "

You conld almost hear the wheals of the buck-
board and the trotting of the horse as the ghost
of Basil Campbell flashed his warm friendly
sinile and passed on by.

We fell to talking then about Romingers —
sbout Jacoh Rominger, our guide’s grand-
father, who came to Yolo county from Wit~
tenberg, Germany — “Oh, a long time ago; 1
don’'t know what year.™

Jacob had two sons, one who dida't marry,
and William's father, C. T,, who had seven sons
— and was the progenitor of all those Romingers
in the Yolo county phone bool; take a look under
any of the cities in the county,

William was born in Plainfield and has been a
Yolo county farmer all his life,

What is the higgest change he has seen in his
lifetime?

YOh, farming methods, as much as anything.
We all used to use mules. We'd have six or eight
wiule tearns and then on the big combines we'd
run 30 or 32 head, Good big mules. Now, it's all
dirty, greasy — and noisy — traetors,

""The combine would go from place to place.
You'd baard everybody. There'd be 1l to 12.at a
table. The women were all good cooks. They'd

© really set & fablg.

“Now vou never hoard anybody, They bring
their own little sack lunches. They drive maybe
25 miles to come to work but they don’t stay
overnight,

CURIOQUS — The sheep came running
to where we stepped in Campbell hills
near Dunnigan.

Many who settled in flat grain-rich Hungry Hollow and the near Dunnigan Hills

were Germany dry-farmers like the Romingers. Other German names like

Mast, Durst, Schaupp, and Goodnaugh also come to mind—and descendants of

are still farming in Yolo County. Basil Campbell was not German, but a mixed-
race man who came as a slave from Missouri with his Scottish “owners,” the

‘49ers John D. and George D. Stephens, and was given the opportunity to work
off his “slave-price”; and then was helped by the Stephens brothers—who

would start the Bank of Woodland--to invest and grow wealthy: becoming the

wealthiest African American in Yolo County before the 1900s. As one of the

first blacks to arrive and prosper, many others followed him and were blessed

with his assistance and advice. Some of them also appear as important early
Yoloans in our history books, such as midwife Mary Gaither, whose husband

knew Basil’s brother, who had also come as a slave before the Civil War. Green
Berry Logan apparently knew one of the brothers, too, for he first settled near

them in the Dunnigan area before finding his way to be the first African
American settler in the Guinda area of Capay Valley in 1890.
NOTE: see more on the Romingers and other German farmers of Yolo County in the

book by this author: The History and Stories of the Capay Valley; or in her Journals and

Newsletters posted on greatercapayvalley.org. Author Elizabeth Monroe is currently
writing a book on Basil Campbell, which will be available on the same website—soon!
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PALMS — A line of palms marks the
driveway to the home on Road 12-A
owned by Mrs. Mildred Glgulere of
“Woodland.

CAMPBELL HILLS — These hills are

interior to the public roads.
15




As seen in the newspaper article below, Basil Campbell factored greatly in the early history of Yolo County.
Though there are a few errors in this article, the details are: Born to a slave mother and white father on the
farm of James D [not G as noted herein] Campbell in Cooper County, MO, March 9, 1823; sold by James’
widow to her neighboring Stephens family at 13 years old; in October 1853 John D. Stephens would buy Basil
for $1200 from the estate and bring him to CA with the agreement that Basil would buy his freedom at $100
per year for ten years; which Basil did after 7 years in 1861; and then Stephens helped him invest; Basil
married Rebecca Dalton in 1866 and adopted her daughter Lenora; Basil became involved in politics and
activism; helped his half-brother Elijah Jennings become successful and many other blacks who later came to
Yolo County; after Rebecca’s death in 1891, Basil would marry Mary Jane Williams, his daughter Lenora’s
sister-in-law and Mary would become the executrix of his Will, Estate, Probate and Trial brought by his “slave
sons,” claiming a right to inherit, a complex trial that resulted in many useful documents for researchers.
There is so much more to Basil’s story and the Shipley Walters Center for Yolo County Archives and Library
Services has been a great resource at: 226 Buckeye St, Woodland, CA 95695, (530) 666-8005. This booklet is
courtesy of Elizabeth Monroe and The Friends of the Yolo County Archives. Basil Campbell will be getting his

own book by Elizabeth Monroe—soon! Buy it on greatercapayvalley.org.

One Who Made A Difference

Mr. Basil Campbell:
Grain farmer; stock breeder and rancher

_ EDITOR'S NOTE: This is the
xth in o sevies elot aneg resi-
dengs who made o diference (n
the 20th century, Published the
last Mondagy of eoch month, this
series began April 24.

By JACQUE (REMER) VAUGHTERS

Pernxet mal witee

Basil “Bany" Campbell was
barn in Cooper County, Mis
soury, March 8, 1823 a slave to
James G, Campball, whoee witk
oW, Mres Ellen. later resided
with her son-ln-law, Jefferson
Mitxwell, in Yolo County

When 13 years old, in Sep
tember 1836, Basll was sold to
Josoph Stephens for $300

In 1837, My Stephens diad,
anii for some four or five suc-
spking yuars, theslave boy wad
put yearly up at anction, and his
services for one vear sold to the
highest bldder

One of hose years, he was
puat upon the seales and found to
waigh 161 pounds, and taking
his place spon the auction
stand, wu bid off at $151 per
your by Thomas Adams, &
frether of DQ, Adams, of Yolo
County.

In 1579, & sen of the purchas
on TH, Adams, was working a
thousand scres of land in Yolo
County, which ba waus leasing
from the boy wiose services, as
a shave, his father purchased at
ome dollar per pound.

In about 1542, the estate of
Josoph Stephens was  divided
among the belrs, and Basil had
o be sold agaln, a5 he eould not
woll be divided. Mrs: Catherine
Stepheris,  widow of  the
docensesd.  purchased him for
450,

In Octaber 1053, Basil was
again sold, this e for $1,200,
to JN Stephens  who later
became & Woodland banker The
following year, Mr Stephens
came o Calfornia and settled
on the south side of Cache
crok, bringing with him his
el hundred  dollar par
ol

Befure leaving Missourd, an
agroesent had been anternd
Info hetween the parties, to the
effvot that Bast] wad to work in

¢ Califurnlz  ten  yoars ~for
- Stephens, nnd have his liberty
at the end of thst tima Opo
hundred dollars par yean to be
pad annually, was 1o be given to
Bastl during that thwe. and if
+ during the ten years, bes had

16-Back Cover

monay enough to buy bis free-
dom in less time, Mr Staphens
WRS to Thame & ressnable price.

In 1861, “Basz” as he was
kown: locally, paid §700 for the
remmining three years of his
time;-and then Wes free, Bictng
thoso seven years, Basil had
boen Investing his monay in
stock, and was wortl, in 1861,
whout $10,000.

In 1865, he ¢ o

Adams — the Campheils Hving
upon the proceeds af thelr acou.
mulated wealtl,

Baaz Campbell stated that he
considered himsedf fortunate o
his: masters in those days of
servitueles that he wis alwuys
kindly treated: and thet in 10
Stophens  he - found & - friend
Tather than &-mastes, who jaw
him o chance 1n the world that
few of his race had been favored
with

Elijah Jennings was born #
slavo to L1, Campbell ity Cooper
county;, Missourt, in March,
e

His mother's name was Hes
tor; und his father, who bedonga!
to anothar misder, Was Damed
Jennings, and lved to see tha
Union army & spy for whom he
was aocuss] of teing, and died
g Hae wir (e feed-imy
race,

The mother eventualiy relo:
cated to Woodland, supported
by her sons; Baae Campbell and

Eligah Je

sequiring real estate, and by

1875, he mxl his wife owned
2560 norws, worth ahont twenty
doliary per acré on-an sverage,
and botween five ard ten thoa-
sandt dollars’ worth of livestock,

Tn 195, Baay was elected o5 a
delpgate to attend the Stute Con-
vention of Colared People n
Sacramente; being chosen as
ono of the vice-presidents

He was married to Rebeoca
Dalton, a natlve of Tennessoo,
at Sacramento Clty, Aug. 5, 1868,
arvt they adopted a child named
Lanorie.

In the sfficial recornds of 1870,
e Campbells were listed as
“general furmes, o one of but
a few large Yolo County farms.
10 miles west from Cacheville,
16 miles narthwest from Wood
land, seventeen hundred arres
of land, Divistan Three; six
bundred acres in - oultivation;
value, twenty-five thousand dol
Jars: capltal invested, two' thou
sand dollars dealing largely in
horses and bogs. with plvim
hundred  head - of  sheep;
Falrview  Precinet,  Oraften
Townshig,; Post-office, Yol

Tn 1573, Mn Campbell wes
again elected to the State Con-
vention of Colored Peaple, and
was chosen by that body 25 @
slate delegate 1o attend the
Natlonal Convention of Colored
Prople at \Washington, DO,

The Camphell regidenons wis
in Woodland. Their farm wus
ramted, s befove stated, to TH

—— 1

Elifah was sspurated at the
agn of four years from his moth-
en buing 2 gifl to the daughter of
his master named Rhoda, who
had  maeried Thomas 0
Maxwell, Isder a residimt of
Yolo County and he thos
ascaped the auetion block,

Ho tivied with the Maxwells
Cooper County, Mo, until the
framily e to Californin in 1856,
bringing the salve boy tnder an
agreement that he was o worl
tun yesats for lils frosdom.

On their arritval a spocial

mgreetnent  was - enteved  into
under which he served soven
yeurs, and then commeneed Hie
for himself a free man, the par
ties conlracting not having ful
fifled thalr agreement,
. He Nrst invested n a cow
apd afterwards borrowed 1ty
dallarg of his brother Baax
Campbell, and  purchased
another cow

He soan eccumulated abaut
two hundred and fifty dallars,
md Joaned it for sbout two
vears at one and doehall
et Interest, and in the 3l m
1656 bought fiftees head of cus
tle and & colt,

In 1843 he purchased of
Maxwell, for thres hundred dol-
lars, a vanch on Pulg-cresk but
Nnding a scarcity of wates, by
alnking three wells any one of
wihich was over sixtyloee feet
(daeq, be traded it for & horse
il ten head of young cattle.

He then toolc with CI1. Moe-

Basil “Baaz” Campbell

gan . one  thousuxd shesp on
shares of Mo Cgmpbell, when
the dry season of 1864 about
ruined them fnancially  But,
thrpugh the advics of M
Camy they continued and
4} came out  something
nhea&L

Tn the offietal records of 167,
Jennings is Hsted as a “farmr,
mticdence 10 mbles west from
Cacheviile, 15 miles northwest
from  Woodland: ane hundred
and sixty acreq of land, Divi-
sion’ Thiee. all i cnltivation:
staple, wheat, value, three thou-
sand five hundred doblars; West
Gruffon Precinet,  Graftan
Township; Posteffice. Yolo.™

He then entered into co-part-
riership withy fis brothey, Bisz,
and from thae Hise
and__continoed  to
“mealffy”

Mrc  Jennings  esennsally
came to own an uniivided half-
iniecest in eight hundmd acres
Al Land with s brother, bisides
four and twenty weres
Individually

Later hiz postaffion address
was listed In Madison, a8 his
farm was gituated oniy about
soven mileg northeast.

acguire

Counay ot Yolo Soary Ao

Qwing to the peculiar loca
tion of Yolo County and the vir
led charactes of its soil, it was
divided by nature nto five s
tlons, which were classed, in the
oMelal records of 1870, s five
“divislons” when locasing - the
many tarms and speaking of
their qualities.

These  divisions were not
made in such & manner &8s o
Include iy one belt all land of
egunl valus The natural divi
sions were slmply numbersd

There wees farms lsted in
Division Two which, owlng to
their peculiar location, their
adaptability to pecullar phases
of agriculture, and for many
othor causes, e Bield ar tugn
fimires and commanded tham:
while, on the ather hand. there
wern furm}:r:;:tml in Dlvislmsl}
(e and that were near!
mﬂhlas;r owing o

causas; still thay wise r:m!md m
thoes  yaluable  divisions
because they. came within the
belts thus segrepated by nature.
ln Divislcm Fivo oerasionally
found small and valusble

rarms, hut not in Division Four
which presented but ittle diffes
moe In seil throughout its

i
B e P
Dmsfan‘l'hm attached to hoth

of the Campbell farms listed
above, [ulbws

included ‘the v such as
mlafge'mmhmbedw
Where the lands

tiom further inlancd.
Thy AfricanAmesican  pio-
neers of the Capay \%Ileym

anfarcers of the law and skin
color mpant Hitde 1n the Capay.
Valley of Yolo County

Astory of the Campbell fam-
iy — largo acreage DWNers,
vith a weeth of roore than
100000 in 1834 — circulated
t African Anssrican
owned papers in the cast.

Mrs. Basil (Rebeozi Dalton)
Campbell died of heart disesise,
In Yolo County, Satwrray Not
14, 1091, msge'zHKm(m
physkelan was a Dr. Ross. Basil

Campbeil was reported to be
quite 11 on the front page of the
Datly Democrat, Now

Woodland
24, 1906 The canse of his death,

and Commercia
the State of Colifornia,” wra,
'Hmary tt‘ Yolo County," by
Defue, 1 "Woodland Daily
Democrat,” Sarurdw Rvening,
Noww 24, 1906, and Monday, Jan
24 2000, pgs. Aland AG




